
City of St. Charles, Illinois 

Ordinance No. 2023-Z-   

An Ordinance Designating Certain Property as a Historic Landmark 

(838 N. 5th Ave. – Saxony Terrace) 
 

WHEREAS, a nomination for Landmark Designation for the real estate legally described in 

Exhibit "A", attached hereto and made a part hereof (“Subject Realty”), commonly known as 838 N 

5th Ave., was filed with the City of St. Charles (“City”) on or about September 6, 2023, by Joyce 

Cregier (“Petitioner”); and, 

 

WHEREAS, Notice of Public Hearing on said nomination was published on or about 

October 2, 2023, in a newspaper having general circulation within the City, to-wit, the Daily 

Herald newspaper, as required by Section 17.32.060 of the St. Charles Zoning Ordinance; and, 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to said notice, the Historic Preservation Commission conducted a 

public hearing on October 18, 2023, on said nomination, as required by Section 17.32.060 of the St. 

Charles Zoning Ordinance; and, 

 

WHEREAS, at said Public Hearing, the Petitioners presented testimony in support of said 

nomination and all interested parties had an opportunity to be heard; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Historic Preservation Commission made the required findings and 

recommended approval of the nomination on October 18, 2023; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Development Committee of the City Council recommended 

approval of the nomination on December 11, 2023; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of St. Charles received the recommendations of 

the Historic Preservation Commission and the Planning and Development Committee, and has 

considered the same; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of St. Charles hereby makes the following 

findings for Landmark designation: 

 

1. The property has character, interest or value which is part of the 

development, heritage or cultural character of the community. 

In 1896, an Elgin trolley streetcar route was extended as an interurban south to St 

Charles and Geneva. It was later joined by an Aurora trolley route extending north 

through Batavia to become the Elgin, Aurora and Southern Traction Company. The 

company operated an interurban along the Fox River route from Carpentersville on the 

north to Yorkville on the south. The Fox River interurban was later merged into the 

Aurora, Elgin, & Chicago RR (A,E & C), and operated as The Fox River Division. The 

A,E & C was a high speed interurban which operated mostly upon private right-of-way, 

and mainly used a third rail for electrical pickup. The house is along that path.  
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2. Property is identified with a person who significantly contributed to the development 

of the community. 

 

Carol and Gertrude Norris, parents of Lester, purchased the home from the original owners 

in 1924. However, they did not live in the structure, but Lester and Dellora did reside in the 

structure. 

 

Dellora was the niece of Col. E. J. Baker and heir to the Texaco fortune. Along with her 

husband she formed the St. Charles Charities (now the Dellora A. and Lester J. Norris 

Foundation) in 1924 and funded multiple civic improvements throughout their lives 

including; the St. Charles Country Club, Arcada Theatre, Delnor Hospital, the Dellora A. 

Norris Cultural Arts Center, and the John B. Norris Recreation Center.  

 

3. Structure embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for 

the study of a period, type, method of construction, or use of indigenous materials. 

The home is built in the Prairie style. The identifying features are low pitched, 

hipped roof; wide overhanging eaves; two story with one story porch or wing; 

eaves; cornices; horizontal lines; and square porch supports. 

 

4. Property is identified with the work of a master builder, designer, architect, 

or landscape architect whose work has influenced the development of the 

area, the county, the state, or the nation.  

The current owners believe that August and Oscar Wilson (Chicago Tribune May 18, 2008) 

built this home. The Wilson Brothers worked with Frank Lloyd Wright and built as many as 

100 structures throughout the valley during the first half of 1900 under their own Wilson 

name. 

 

5. Structure embodies elements of design, detailing, materials, or craftsmanship that are 

of architectural significance. 

 Massive square piers to support the porch roof; horizontal decorative emphasis; small pane 

window glazing; broad flat chimney; contrasting wall and trim materials that emphasize 

 the upper story; and decorative door surrounds. 

 

6. Property has a unique location that make it a familiar visual feature. 

The property is one the Norris Family Estates along North Fifth Avenue.  

 

The landscape of the entire lot provides the proper mass, size, and space 

required for this structure, which should be considered as part of the overall 

landmark designation.  

 

7. The property is suitable for preservation or restoration. 

     Yes. The home remains original both exterior and interior with any interior improvements    

keeping within the prairie style architecture. An interesting item is that the current ceramic 
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tiles covering the roof which was added in 1926 still covers the original shake material 

when the home was constructed in 1913. Exterior brick, stucco, wood 

windows/doors/storms remain today. 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ST. 

CHARLES, KANE AND DUPAGE COUNTIES, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

1. The preambles and findings set forth hereinabove are incorporated herein as 

substantive provisions of this Ordinance as if fully set out in this Section One. 

 

2. That the real estate legally described in Exhibit "A", commonly known as 838 N 5th 

Ave., is hereby designated as a Landmark pursuant to the St. Charles Municipal Code, Title 17 

“Zoning”, Chapter 17.32 “Historic Preservation”, with a noted construction date of circa 1913. 

 
3. That this ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage and approval in 

accordance with law. 

 

4. That after the adoption and approval hereof the Ordinance shall (i) be printed or 

published in book or pamphlet form, published by the authority of the Council, or (ii) within 

thirty (30) days after the adoption and approval hereof, be published in a newspaper published in 

and with a general circulation within the City of St. Charles. 

 
PRESENTED to the City Council of the City of St. Charles, Illinois, this 18th day of 

December, 2023. 
 

PASSED by the City Council of the City of St. Charles, Illinois, this 18th day of 

December, 2023. 
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APPROVED by the Mayor of the City of St. Charles, Illinois, this 18th day of December, 

2023. 
 

 

 
    

Lora A. Vitek, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

 

   

Nancy Garrison, City Clerk 

 

COUNCIL VOTE: 

Ayes: 

Nays: 

Absent: 

Abstain: 
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 EXHIBIT “A” 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 40 NORTH, 

RANGE 8 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; 

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 7, DELNOR PARK ADDITION 

ONE, ST. CHARLES, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, BEING ON THE WEST LINE OF SIXTH 

AVENUE NORTH; THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID WEST LINE EXTENDED 790.16 

FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 88 DEGREES 27’ 

WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, MEASURED COUNTER- CLOCKWISE 

THEREFROM 331.82 FEET TO THE EAST LINE OF FIFTH AVENUE NORTH; THENCE 

SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 88 DEGREES, 27’ WITH 

THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, MEASURED CLOCKWISE THEREFROM, 66.02 FEET; 

THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE FORMING ANGLE OF 180 DEGREES 06’ 

10” WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, MEASURED COUNTER-CLOCKWISE 

THEREFROM 183.74 FEET FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE CONTINUING 

SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID EAST LINE 230 FEET; THENCE EASTERLY ALONG A LINE 

FORMING AN ANGLE OF 88 DEGREES 15’ 20” WITH THE PROLONGATION OF THE 

LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, MEASURED COUNTER-CLOCKWISE THEREFROM, 295 

FEET; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 88 DEGREES 15’ 

20” WITH THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, MEASURED CLOCKWISE THEREFROM, 230 

FEET; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG A LINE FORMING AN ANGLE OF 88 DEGREE 15’ 20” 

WITH THE PROLONGATION OF THE LAST DESCRIBED COURSE, MEASURED 

COUNTER-CLOCKWISE THEREFROM, 295 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, IN THE 

CITY OF ST. CHARLES, KANE COUNTY, ILLINOIS.  

 

PIN #09-27-253-006 
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EXHIBIT “B” 
 

LANDMARK NOMINATION 

(29 pages) 















838 N. 5th Avenue – Descrip�on 
 

“Saxony Terrace”, built near the end of 1913 for Charles and Lillie 
Schmidt, is a fine example of the Prairie Style Architecture (A Field 
Guide to American Houses – pages 438++) influenced by Frank Lloyd 
Wright and others. The current owners believe that August and Oscar 
Wilson (Chicago Tribune May 18, 2008) built this home. The Wilson 
Brothers worked with Wright and built as many as 100 structures 
throughout the valley during the first half of 1900 under their own 
Wilson name.  

The home remains original both exterior and interior with any interior 
improvements keeping within the prairie style architecture. An 
interes�ng item is that the current ceramic �les covering the roof which 
was added in 1926 s�ll covers the original shake material when the 
home was constructed in 1913. Exterior brick, stucco, wood 
windows/doors/storms remain today. Carol and Gertrude Norris 
(parents of Lester) purchased the home from the Schmidt’s in 1924 
however they did not live in this structure. However, Lester and Dellora 
did reside in this structure.  

Today, Joyce Cregier (remember the Early Modern – auto driven growth 
of the city west of Third Street and south of Prairie Street in the 1920’s-
30’s was the Cregier Addi�on is the current owner for 47 years. She has 
been an excellent caretaker for this site.  

The criteria used is as follows: 

#1 Property has character, interest, or value which is part of the development 
of the community. In the early por�on of the 20th century, Route 25 or 5th Avenue 
was a spur for the Chicago Aurora and Elgin Railroad. This was an electric rail line 
which was known as a first-class opera�on providing high speed service to 
Chicago. This rail line ran down this very prominent, brick paved street in the City 



of St. Charles. When this home was built electricity was put on entry columns at a 
�me when electricity was in its very early stages and common homes s�ll had not 
installed this feature. Today 5th Avenue is s�ll a main entry point into the city 
where this home sits proudly. By 1924 the motor car would have been entering 
the property to the amazement and curiosity of the public. 

#3 Property is iden�fied with a person who significantly contributed to the 
development of the community. 

#4 Structure embodies dis�nguishing characteris�cs of an architectural style 
valuable for the study of a period, type, or use of indigenous materials. The 
iden�fying features are low pitched, hipped roof; wide overhanging eaves; two 
story with one story porch or wing; eaves; cornices; horizontal lines; and square 
porch supports. 

#5 Property is iden�fied with the work of a master builder, designer whose 
work has influenced the development of the area, the county, the state, and the 
na�on. While no proof has surfaced yet, the owners believe the Wilson Brothers 
built this home.  

#6 Structure embodies elements of design, detailing, materials, or 
cra�manship that are of architectural significance. Massive square piers to 
support the porch roof; horizontal decora�ve emphasis; small pane window 
glazing; broad flat chimney; contras�ng wall and trim materials that emphasize 
the upper story; and decora�ve door surrounds. 

#8 Property has a unique loca�on of physical characteris�cs that make it a 
familiar visual feature. The landscape provides the proper mass, size, and space 
required for this structure, which should be considered as part of the overall 
landmark designa�on. 

#10 Property is suitable for preserva�on. 







Streetcar Neighborhood Development in St. Charles

A streetcar suburb is a residential community whose growth and development was strongly 
shaped by the use of streetcar lines as a primary means of transportation. 
1

Historically St. Charles and the neighboring communities along the Fox River developed as mill 
towns.  Early Steam R.R. lines connected Chicago with the self-contained rail-stop cities of 
Elgin and Aurora.  The first Railroad Suburbs developed along these routes. 
2

The Town of St. Charles at Mid-19th Century was platted circa 1837, and a dam was 
constructed to harness water power for industry.  Moving forward, water powered industries 
continued to develop and mature in the downtown. Factories located away from water power 
often used coal-fired, steam boilers to provide the power to operate machinery.


During this mill and factory town development, horse drawn commercial transportation was 
prevalent, but horse & buggy use for personal transportation was limited to wealthier citizens.  
Many of the working-class, factory workers commuted to downtown jobs by walking.  The 
early residential neighborhoods were limited in size due to walking distance to the industrial 
downtown and to the steam railway stations.


Working Class residential neighborhoods were dominated by smaller detached houses sited on 
narrow lots.  Larger lots with corresponding spacious houses tended to develop along the 
outer boundaries of the city neighborhoods, along the main streets, or in the outlying township. 
The more affluent owners could own or hire horse drawn vehicles for private transport thus 
negating the need to walk.


The Late-19th Century, 1890’s growth spurt in St. Charles coincides with the development of 
the Streetcar Suburbs. "The introduction of the first electric-powered streetcar system in 
Richmond, Virginia, in 1887 by Frank J. Sprague, ushered in a new period of suburbanization. 
The electric streetcar, or trolley, allowed people to travel in 10 minutes as far they could walk in 
30 minutes. It was quickly adopted in cities from Boston to Los Angeles. By 1902, 22,000 miles 
of streetcar tracks served American cities; from 1890 to 1907, this distance increased from 
5,783 to 34,404 miles.” “By 1890, streetcar lines began to foster a tremendous expansion of 
suburban growth in cities of all sizes. In older cities, electric streetcars quickly replaced horse-
drawn cars, making it possible to extend transportation lines outward and greatly expanding 
the availability of land for residential development. Growth occurred first in outlying rural 
villages that were now interconnected by streetcar lines, and, second, along the new residential 
corridors created along the streetcar routes.” 
3

In 1896, an Elgin trolley streetcar route was extended as an interurban south to St Charles and 
Geneva.  It was later joined by an Aurora trolley route extending north through Batavia to 
become the Elgin, Aurora and Southern Traction Company. The company operated an 
interurban along the Fox River route from Carpentersville on the north to Yorkville on the south. 
The Fox River interurban was later merged into the Aurora, Elgin, & Chicago RR (A,E & C), and 
operated as The Fox River Division.  The A,E & C was a high speed interurban which operated 
mostly upon private right-of-way, and mainly used a third rail for electrical pickup.  After WW I, 

 Wikipedia, https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Streetcar_suburb1

 A Field Guide to American Houses, Virginia McAlester, Knopf, New York, 2013, p.642

 https://www.livingplaces.com/Streetcar_Suburbs.html3
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Streetcar Neighborhood Development in St. Charles

the Fox River Lines were split off as the Aurora, Elgin & Fox River Electric, and operated as an 
independent interurban until 3-31-1935.   The Chicago, Aurora & Elgin RR operated on the 4

Geneva-St. Charles route until 10-31-1937.  The electric interurban allowed the working 
commuter to buy a home father from downtown St 
Charles, within walking distance of the streetcar route.


In the growing City of St. Charles, the 4 decades from 
1890 to 1930  became a dominant era of new home 
construction.  South of downtown, new neighborhoods 
within The Moody’s and Wilcox’s Additions developed a 
few blocks to each side along the streetcar route.  The 
Wilcox’s Addition is the best example of a streetcar 
neighborhood where new houses infill into the narrow lots 
fronting the streetcar line, and carriage barns or garages 
are accessed via alleys.   More infill construction occurred 5

in the Moody’s Addition, west of 3rd Street and up hill to 
7th St.


The prevalent and popular architectural styles of this time 
period were Queen Ann, Colonial Revival, National/
Homestead, Craftsman, and Prairie.  The prevalent early 
20th Century house types and forms were Bungalow, 
Foursquare, Gable Front, and Catalog/Plan-book.  


Even though efficient, electric transportation was within a 
10 minute walk, some residents dabbled with the early 
automobile for personal transport, and constructed small 
garages to house the family car.  Henry Ford’s 
revolutionary mass production of the Model T allowed the 
middle-class affordable automobile ownership. By the 
1920’s, the ownership and use of the private automobile, 
along with extensive paving of streets and county roads, 
allowed people to live further from the downtown without 
the need for public transportation.  Ridership on electric 
streetcars began to decline with the rise of the Early 
Automobile Neighborhood. 
6

Streetcar Neighborhood Development  
in St. Charles was researched and authored by  
Dr. Steven W. Smunt,  St. Charles, IL. ,  02/28/2022

 Aurora-Elgin Area Street Cars & Interurbans, V.1, Fox River Division, Hopkins Stolp Peffers, 4

American Slide-Chart Corp, Wheaton IL,1993, p.7-8

Aurora-Elgin Area Street Cars & Interurbans, V.1, Fox River Division, Hopkins Stolp Peffers, 5

American Slide-Chart Corp, Wheaton IL,1993, p. inside front cover map

A Field Guide to American Houses, Virginia McAlester, Knopf, New York, 2013, p.67-686
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